UC Irvine UC Irvine Previously Published Works

Title Fungal Pre-mRNA 3'-End Processing

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/89x3x49j

ISBN 9783319056869

Authors Vavasseur, Aurelia Shi, Yongsheng

Publication Date 2014

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-05687-6_3

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed

eScholarship.org

Chapter 3 Fungal Pre-mRNA 3'-End Processing

Aurelia Vavasseur and Yongsheng Shi

Abstract 3' end processing of messenger RNAs (mRNAs) is not only an essential step in eukaryotic gene expression, but it also impacts many other aspects of mRNA maturation and decay. A large portion of eukaryotic genes produce multiple mRNAs with different 3' ends through alternative cleavage/polyadenylation (APA). mRNA 3' processing and especially APA has been increasingly recognized as an important mechanism for gene regulation. Much of what we currently know about eukaryotic mRNA 3' processing came from studies using the genetically tractable yeast systems. Here we review the fungal mRNA 3' processing system by describing both the evolutionarily conserved mechanisms as well as the fungus-specific features.

Contents

Pre-mRNA 3'-End Processing: An Overview	50
Fungal Poly(A) Site Sequence Features	51
Fungal mRNA 3' Processing Factors	53
mRNA 3' Processing Factors in S. cerevisiae	56
S. pombe 3' Processing Factors	71
Regulators of mRNA 3' Processing	12
Factors Required for S. cerevisiae Histones mRNA 3' Processing	13
Release of mRNA 3' Processing Factors After Polyadenylation	13
Alternative Polyadenylation and its Regulation in Fungi	14
APA Regulation and Metabolism	14
APA Regulation and DNA Damage Response	15

A. Vavasseur · Y. Shi (🖂)

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, School of Medicine, University of California, Irvine, CA 92697, USA e-mail: yongshes@uci.edu

Nab4/Hrp1-Mediated APA Regulation and Copper Stress	76
APA Regulation of Meiotic Gene Expression	77
Other Examples of Alternative Polyadenylation in Fungi	77
Gene Regulation at the 3' End	78
mRNA 3' Processing in the Regulation of S. pombe Meiotic Genes	78
mRNA 3' Processing Regulates the Expression of Neighboring Genes	79
Conclusion /Future Directions	80
References	81

Pre-mRNA 3'-End Processing: An Overview

The vast majority of eukaryotic mRNAs have a polyadenosine (poly(A)) tail at their 3' ends (Chan et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 1999; Colgan and Manley 1997; Proudfoot 2011). The poly(A) sequences are not encoded in the genome, but are added posttranscriptionally through two chemical reactions, an endonucleolytic cleavage and the addition of a string of adenosines by the poly(A) polymerase (PAP). The poly(A) tails are critical for mRNA export, stability, and translation (Zhao et al. 1999; Colgan and Manley 1997; Chan et al. 2011; Proudfoot 2011). The 3' end formation process itself is required for transcription termination and it significantly impacts other mRNA processing steps, including splicing (Kim et al. 2004; West et al. 2004; Connelly and Manley 1988; see Chap. 2 for more details). Mutations that disrupt the mRNA 3' processing of critical genes and mutations in mRNA 3' processing factors cause a number of diseases, including thalassemias, thrombophilia, and oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (Danckwardt et al. 2008; Chan et al. 2011).

Pre-mRNA 3' end formation involves the assembly of several multisubunit complexes on specific cis-element that defines the polyadenylation site (PAS) (Chan et al. 2011; Shi et al. 2009; Skolnik-David et al. 1987; Humphrey et al. 1987). The majority of the 3' processing factors are conserved throughout eukaryotic evolution (Darmon and Lutz 2012; Mandel et al. 2008). Interestingly, however, there are also a number of lineage-specific essential 3' processing factors (Zhao et al. 1999). The loss and/or gain of these factors during evolution might be correlated with changes in the cis-element of PAS as described below.

APA is the phenomenon in which a gene can produce multiple mRNA isoforms with distinct 3' ends through using alternative PAS (Shi 2012; Di Giammartino et al. 2011; Tian and Manley 2013; Elkon et al. 2013). It is estimated that over half of the eukaryotic genes produce alternatively polyadenylated transcripts (Shi 2012). Unlike alternative splicing, which has expanded dramatically during eukaryotic evolution, the prevalence of APA in yeast is comparable to that in metazoans (Ozsolak et al. 2010; Derti et al. 2012). APA isoforms may encode different proteins and/or have different 3' untranslated regions (UTRs). In yeast, many APA events involve PAS found within the coding sequences (CDS) as well (Sparks and Dieckmann 1998; Yoon and Brem 2010; Mayer and Dieckmann 1989, 1991).



Fig. 3.1 Key cis-element for yeast poly(A) sites. The names, positions, consensus sequences of the known cis-element in *S. cerevisiae* (**a**) and *S. pombe* (**b**) PAS. *EE* Efficiency element, *PE* Positioning element, *UUE* Upstream U-rich element, *DUE* Downstream U-rich element, *SDE* Site determining element, *DSE* Downstream sequence element. See details in the text

Such APA isoforms are predicted to produce either truncated proteins or no protein product. Thus, APA significantly expands the proteome diversity and mRNA regulatory potential. The global APA profile is highly dynamic and regulated during development and in response to environmental cues (Shepard et al. 2011; Sandberg et al. 2008; Flavell et al. 2008; Graber et al. 2013). Aberrant APA regulation has also been implicated in a number of diseases, including cancer (Mayr and Bartel 2009; Jenal et al. 2012; Shi 2012; Di Giammartino et al. 2011).

The 3' ends of mRNAs can be further processed in the cytoplasm (Richter 1999). For example, poly(A) tails can be extended or trimmed (Richter 1999). Other nucleotides, such as uracil, can be added (Rissland et al. 2007). These modifications play important roles in regulating the stabilities of target mRNAs (Scott and Norbury 2013). But for this article, we will focus on the 3' end processing in the nucleus.

Fungal Poly(A) Site Sequence Features

Single gene studies and global analyses of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* PAS have identified five key sequence elements (Fig. 3.1): (1) the A/U-rich Efficiency Element (EE) located at variable positions upstream of the cleavage site (CS) with the nucleotide consensus sequence UAYRUA (with Y: pyrimidine, and R: purine); (2) the A-rich Positioning Element (PE) located 10–30 nucleotides (nt) upstream of the CS. AAWAAA (W: A or U) is one of the most frequently found motifs in PE;

(3) the Upstream U-rich Element (UUE); (4) the CS; and (5) the Downstream U-rich Element (DUE) (Zhao et al. 1999). Recently, a short A-rich region from +2 to +5 nt (relative to the CS) has been suggested to influence the strength of the PAS (Fig. 3.1) (Moqtaderi et al. 2013). Functionally, the PE is most closely related to the AAUAAA hexamer in mammalian PAS (Zhao et al. 1999).

The Schizosaccharomyces pombe PAS have also been studied in some detail (Fig. 3.1) (Hansen et al. 1998; Birse et al. 1997; Humphrey et al. 1994), S. pombe PAS have an A-rich upstream sequence (called Site Determining Element (SDE)), equivalent of the aforementioned PE in S. cerevisiae PAS, and a UG-rich downstream element called Efficiency Element (EE) (Hansen et al. 1998; Birse et al. 1997; Humphrey et al. 1994). Genome-wide analyses suggest that AAUAAA is present in about 20 % of SDEs and UGUA is found in 24 % of EE in S. pombe PAS (Mata 2013; Schlackow et al. 2013; Ozsolak et al. 2010). Based on the high frequency of AAUAAA in SDEs, it has been suggested that S. pombe PAS are more similar to mammalian PAS (Humphrey et al. 1994; Chakraborty et al. 2002; Schlackow et al. 2013; Mata 2013). The distance between SDE and EE influences the efficiency of 3' end formation, and the EE was proposed to enhance the binding of specific factors to SDE (Humphrey et al. 1994). An additional element located further downstream of the PAS, called the downstream element (DSE), also plays an important role in the transcription termination, most likely by inducing RNA pol II pausing (Birse et al. 1997; Hansen et al. 1998).

The specificity and activity of mRNA 3' processing machineries in different yeast species seem quite similar. For example, S. cerevisiae PAS can be correctly processed in S. pombe and vice versa (Humphrey et al. 1991). A global comparison of mRNA polyadenylation in three yeast species, S. cerevisiae, Kluyveromyces lactis, and Debaryomyces hansenii, revealed several similarities (Moqtaderi et al. 2013). First, PAS in all these species share highly similar nucleotide composition and motifs (Fig. 3.1). Second, the position of the CS is highly heterogeneous. There are on average over 60 distinct CS located with a \sim 200 nt "end zone" for each PAS. In contrast, CS in mammalian PAS tend to cluster within 40 nt (Lee et al. 2007). Thus, the high heterogeneity of CS may be a widespread feature of fungal mRNA 3' processing. Third, secondary structures may play an important role in determining PAS strength. RNA folding analyses predicted that the predominant PAS in these yeast species adopt a common configuration characterized by a double-stranded stem with the CS adjacent to a single-stranded domain. The weaker PAS seem less associated with such structures (Mogtaderi et al. 2013). On the other hand, speciesspecific differences in mRNA 3' processing machinery also exist. For example, when large chromosomal fragments from Debaryomyces hansenii were introduced into S. cerevisiae, the polyadenylation within this region, especially the distribution of the CS within the end zone, adopted a pattern similar to that of the host strain. This observation suggests that the mRNA 3' processing factors contribute to the speciesspecific polyadenylation profiles (Moqtaderi et al. 2013).



Fig. 3.2 The mRNA 3' processing machinery in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. DNA templates are shown as *black lines* and RNA as a *blue line*. The mRNA 3' processing factors conserved between yeast and mammals are marked as *dark green circles*. Subunits of complexes and subcomplexes are enclosed in *gray circles*

Fungal mRNA 3' Processing Factors

There are over 20 known mRNA 3' processing factors in *S. cerevisiae* (Fig. 3.2) (Zhao et al. 1999; Proudfoot 2004). At least 13 of them have been conserved up to mammals (Table 3.1). Interestingly, although *S. cerevisiae* and *S. pombe* do not express homologues of the mammalian Cleavage Factor I complex (CFIm), a putative homologue of the CFIm subunit CFIm25 can be found in filamentous fungus *Aspergillus oryzae*, and in the plant pathogens *Ustilago maydis* and *Magnaporthe oryzae* (Munsterkotter and Steinberg 2007; Franceschetti et al. 2011). There are no clear orthologs of CFIm68 in *M. oryzae* based on primary amino acid sequence. However, the *M. oryzae* protein Rbp35 interacts with the CFIm25 homologue in vivo (Franceschetti et al. 2011), and its RRM domain shares structural similarity with the metazoan CFIm68 RRM (Yang et al. 2010).

Table 3.1 Major	3' processing factors in S. cerevisio	e and S. pombe		
Saccharomyces cerevisiae factor	Schizosaccharomyces pombe homologue	Domains	Functions	Mamalian homologue
CFIA				
Rna14	Rna14	HAT (Half A Tetratricopeptide repeat) : protein-protein interactions	Required for the specificity of Rna15 recognition of the PE	CstF77
Rna15	Ctf1	RRM : RNA binding	Binding to the PE	CstF64
Pcf11	Pcf11	CID: CTD interaction; Zinc fingers	Interaction with RNA Poll CTD. Transcription termination	Pcf11
Clp1 <i>CFIB</i>		Walker A : ATP binding	CFIA Scaffolding; CPF /CFIA bridging	Clp1
Nab4/Hrp1		Two RRMs	Binding to EE. Important for NMD, APA, Copper stress response	
CFII				
Cft1/Yhh1	Cft1	Beta-Propeller repeats	Binding at the CS	Cpsf160
Cft2/Ydh1	Cft2	Metallo-Beta-Lactamase domain; Beta- CASP domain	Binding at the CS	Cpsf100
Ysh1/Brr5	Y sh1	Metallo-Beta-Lactamase domain; Beta- CASP domain	Putative endoribonuclease	Cpsf73
Pta1 PFI	Pta1		APT /CFII bridging	Symplekin
Yth1	Yth1	CCCH zinc finger domain	Binds U-rich elements surrounding CS	Cpsf30
Pfs2	Pfs2	WD-40 repeat : protein-protein interaction	PFI /CFIA /CFII /APT bridging	Wdr33
Fip1	Fip1		Potential regulator of Pap1	Fip1
				(continued)

64

Table 3.1 (continu	ed)			
Saccharomyces	Schizosaccharomyces pombe	Domains	Functions	Mamalian
cerevisiae factor	homologue			homologue
Other CPF subunits				
Papl	Pla1		Catalyses adenosine addition to the 3' cleavage product	PAP
Glc7	Dis2; Sds21		Type 1 protein phosphatase	PP1
Mpe 1	SPBP8B7.15c	Zinc knuckle		Rbbp6
Ssu72	Ssu72		Phosphatase	Ssu72
Swd2	Swd2.2 (SPAC824.04) : CPF; Swd2 : Set1 complex	WD40 repeat	Links 3' processing with chromatin modifications?	Wdr82 : Set1 complex
			Increases weak PAS usage	
Ref2				
Ptil		RRM	snoRNA 3' formation	
Syc1			Negative regulator?	

These structural and functional similarities raise the possibility that *RBP35* is the functional ortholog of CFIm68 in filamentous fungi. Below we discuss the structure and functions of the major fungal 3' processing factors in detail.

mRNA 3' Processing Factors in S. cerevisiae

Most mRNA 3' processing factors in *S. cerevisiae* are essential for viability and they form three major complexes: *Cleavage Factor IA (CFIA), Cleavage Factor IB (CFIB), and Cleavage and Polyadenylation Factor (CPF)* (Zhao et al. 1999). CPF consists of three subcomplexes: Cleavage Factor II (*CFII*), Polyadenylation Factor I (*PFI*), and Associated with Pta1 (*APT*). Additionally, the C-terminal domain (*CTD*) of RNA polymerase II (RNA pol II) binds to many mRNA 3' processing factors and facilitates the recruitment of these factors to nascent RNAs in a co-transcriptional manner (see also Chap. 1).

CFIA

The CFIA complex contains four subunits, Rna14, Rna15, Pcf11, and Clp1. *RNA14* and *RNA15* are the homologs of the mammalian CstF77 and CstF64, respectively. *S. cerevisiae* does not appear to encode a homolog of the third mammalian CstF subunit, CstF50 (Zhao et al. 1999). Depletion of Rna14 or Rna15 leads to global shortening of poly(A) tails and a defect in PAS recognition (Minvielle-Sebastia et al. 1994; Mandart and Parker 1995). Similar to its mammalian homolog CstF77, Rna14 seems to serve as a scaffold through interactions with Rna15, CFIB (see below), and RNA POL II CTD (Noble et al. 2004). Also similar to its mammalian homolog CstF64, Rna15 contributes to PAS recognition by directly binding to RNA via its RRM domain (Gross and Moore 2001). However, Rna15 binds to the A-rich PE upstream of the CS while CstF64 binds specifically to the U/GU-rich regions downstream of CS (MacDonald et al. 1994; Takagaki and Manley 1997; Yao et al. 2012). Recognition of the PE by Rna15 also requires CFIB (Hrp1/Nab4) (Leeper et al. 2010).

PCF11 and *CLP1* are also conserved from yeast to human (Darmon and Lutz 2012). Pcf11 interacts with the RNA pol II CTD through its N-terminal CTD Interacting Domain (CID) (Meinhart and Cramer 2004; Barilla et al. 2001; Licatalosi et al. 2002). RNA pol II CTD is a unique protein domain that consists of 26 (yeast) to 52 (human) highly conserved heptapeptide repeats of the consensus sequence: YSPTSPS (Buratowski 2003; Hirose and Manley 2000; Bentley 2005). The CTD is highly phosphorylated and its phosphorylation is tightly regulated during the transcription cycle. For example, Ser5 is phosphorylated early in transcription and helps to recruit the capping enzymes. On the other hand, Ser2 phosphorylation is low at the promoter regions, but accumulates during transcription

elongation and peaks near the 3' ends of genes and is important for recruiting mRNA 3' processing factors (Buratowski 2003; Hirose and Manley 2000; Bentley 2005). For example, Pcf11 CID specifically interacts with CTD phosphorylated at Ser2 (Licatalosi et al. 2002; Meinhart and Cramer 2004). In addition to its role in mRNA 3' processing, Pcf11 functions in transcription termination by bridging the RNA pol II CTD to the nascent transcripts and dismantling the transcription elongation complex (Zhang et al. 2007; Zhang and Gilmour 2006).

Clp1 interacts with Pcf11 and the CFII subunits Ysh1/Brr5, thereby linking CFIA to CPF (Minvielle-Sebastia et al. 1997; Kessler et al. 1996). Clp1 contains a Walker A motif, a known ATP/GTP-binding domain, but no ATPase activity has been detected (Noble et al. 2007). The human Clp1 protein has been shown to possess RNA-specific 5'-OH polynucleotide kinase activity (Weitzer and Martinez 2007). However, yeast Clp1 seems to lack this activity and mutations in the kinase domain do not affect viability (Ramirez et al. 2008), indicating that the RNA kinase activity is not required for mRNA 3' processing in yeast.

CFIB

CFIB is composed of one unique subunit, *Hrp1/Nab4* (16, 62, 160). Although Hrp1/Nab4 has no sequence homology with any mammal protein, it may share similar structures with the mammal splicing factor hnRNP A1 (Kessler et al. 1997). *HRP1/NAB4* is essential for cell viability and is required for cleavage and polyadenylation. Hrp1/Nab4 directly binds to the U-rich EE via its two RRM domains (Chen and Hyman 1998; Perez-Canadillas 2006). Its depletion in vivo leads to a global decrease in poly(A) tail length (16, 62). It interacts with Rna14 and Rna15, and shuttles between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Kessler et al. 1997). Moreover, Hrp1/Nab4 was shown to regulate APA and stress response (further discussed in the APA section) (Kim Guisbert et al. 2007).

CPF

CPF contains homologues of all the major subunits of mammal Cleavage and Polyadenylation Specificity Factor (CPSF) and they comprise three subcomplexes: CFII, PFI, and APT (Zhao et al. 1999).

The CFII subcomplex. CFII contains four proteins: Cft1/Yhh1 (Cleavage Factor Two 1), Cft2/Ydh1 (Cleavage Factor Two 2), Ysh1/Brr5 (Yeast 73 kDa Homolog 1), and Pta1 (Pre-Trna Accumulation 1). They are homologous to the mammalian CPSF160, CPSF100, CPSF73, and symplekin, respectively (Zhao et al. 1999; Darmon and Lutz 2012). The CFII subunits are functionally similar to their mammalian counterparts as well. Cft1/Yhh1 binds to the mRNAs in the vicinity of the CS via a Beta-propeller repeat domain (Fig. 3.2) (Stumpf and Domdey 1996; Dichtl

et al. 2002b). Moreover, Cft1/Yhh1 interacts with RNA pol II CTD and is essential for mRNA transcription termination (Dichtl et al. 2002b). Similar to CPSF 100 and CPSF73, Cft2/Ydh1 and Ysh1/Brr5 both contain a putative metallo-beta-lactamase domain and a beta-CASP domain. However, Cft2/Ydh1 is not able to bind metal ions (Mandel et al. 2006). Cft2/Ydh1 binds the mRNA at a region encompassing the CS (Zhao et al. 1997). Cft2/Ydh1 interacts with other CFII subunits, Pfs2 (PFI subunit), Ssu72 (APT subunit), and the RNA pol II CTD (Kyburz 2003). Similar to CPSF73, Ysh1/Brr5 is believed to be the endonuclease for mRNA 3' processing in budding yeast. Consistent with this conclusion, mutations in Ysh1/Brr5 that disrupt zinc binding are lethal (Mandel et al. 2006; Ryan et al. 2004). Pta1 shares homology with Symplekin, a scaffolding factor in the mammalian CPSF complex (Takagaki and Manley 2000). Pta1 is believed to bridge the APT complex with CFII complex through multiple interactions (Nedea et al. 2008).

The CPF: PFI complex. The PFI subcomplex contains Yth1 (Yeast 30 kDa Homolog 1), Pfs2 (Polyadenylation Factor Subunit 2), Fip1 (Factor Interacting with Poly(A) polymerase 1), Mpe1 (Mutant PCF11 Extragenic suppressor 1), and Pap1 (Zhao et al. 1999).

Yth1 is related to the mammal RNA-binding zinc finger protein CPSF30 (64 % similarity and is essential for in vitro cleavage and polyadenylation (Barabino et al. 1997). Yth1 contains five CCCH zinc finger domains, and the second one has been shown to be critical for mRNA 3' processing. Yth1 binds to the U-rich element surrounding the CS: the UUE and DUE sequences (Barabino et al. 1997). Yth1 interacts with Fip1 and Ysh1/Brr5, subunit of CFII subcomplex (Barabino et al. 1997; Tacahashi et al. 2003; Helmling et al. 2001).

Fip1 is an intrinsically disordered/unstructured protein that shares 52 % similarity with mammal RNA-binding protein Fip1 (Meinke et al. 2008; Darmon and Lutz 2012). Although Fip1 is not required for cleavage, elimination of the C-terminal half leads to a general shortening of poly(A) tail in vivo (Preker et al. 1995). Fip1 interaction with Pap1 was suggested to regulate Pap1 poly(A) polymerase activity (Preker et al. 1995; Helmling et al. 2001). Moreover, as mutations specifically disrupting Fip1–Pap1 interactions are lethal, it is likely that Fip1 mediates the recruitment of Pap1 to the PAS (Helmling et al. 2001). Fip1 also interacts with Rna14 and Pfs2 (Ohnacker et al. 2000).

Pfs2 is a WD-40 repeat protein and the homolog of the mammal WD40 repeat protein Wdr33 (58 % similarity) (Darmon and Lutz 2012). Pfs2 is required for cleavage and polyadenylation. Pfs2 links PFI with CFIA, CFII, and APT sub-complexes through its interaction with Fip1, Rna14, Ysh1/Brr5, and Swd2 (Ohnacker et al. 2000).

Pap1 is required for polyadenylation but not for cleavage in vitro (Lingner et al. 1991). Structural and enzymatic properties of Pap1 are highly conserved in fungi, as exemplified by studies of *Candida albicans* and *S. pombe* poly(A) polymerase (Bougie and Bisaillon 2007). Pap1 is posttranslationally modified by phosphorylation and ubiquitylation during the cell cycle. Phosphorylation of Pap1 occurs during S and G2 phases, and this modification inhibits Pap1 activity (Mizrahi and Moore 2000). Several proteins, including Fip1, Cft1, and Pta1, interact with Pap1

and could potentially modulate its activity (Nedea et al. 2003; Ezeokonkwo et al. 2012). Pap1 also interacts with the RNA-binding protein Nab6, which was suggested to bind poly(A) mRNA to increase their stability, and to target more specifically mRNAs encoding for proteins of the cell wall (Ezeokonkwo et al. 2012). Pap1 also influences PAS choice (Mandart and Parker 1995).

The CPF: APT subcomplex. CPF contains additional factors that form a third subcomplex called the APT complex (Associated with Pta1) (Nedea et al. 2003). Some of these factors have homologs in metazoan, including Glc7 (GLyCogen 7, homolog of the mammalian phosphatase PP1), Ssu72, and Swd2 (Darmon and Lutz 2012). The other APT component appear to be specific to yeast, including Ref2 (RNA End Formation 2), Pti1 (PTa1p Interacting protein), and Syc1 (Similar to Ysh1 C-terminal 1) (Darmon and Lutz 2012).

Ssu72 is required for cleavage but not for polyadenylation (He et al. 2003). Ssu72 is a protein phosphatase that specifically dephosphorylates RNA pol II CTD at Ser5 (Krishnamurthy et al. 2004; Hausmann et al. 2005). It has been suggested that Ssu72 functions to regenerate hypophosphorylated RNA pol II for new rounds of transcription. However, Ssu72 phosphatase activity seems not required for mRNA 3' processing itself (Krishnamurthy et al. 2004; Hausmann et al. 2005). Besides Pta1, Ssu72 interacts with Cft2/Ydh1 and with RNA pol II subunit, Rpb2 (Krishnamurthy et al. 2004; Hausmann et al. 2005; Dichtl et al. 2002a). Even though the *Kluyveromyces lactis* Ssu72 protein shares 76 % identity with its *S. cerevisiae* counterpart, it cannot functionally complement *S. cerevisiae* Ssu72, indicating functional divergence during fungal evolution (Rodriguez-Torres et al. 2013).

Glc7 is the homolog of the mammalian protein phosphatase PP1 (Darmon and Lutz 2012). Glc7 is specifically required for cleavage, but not for polyadenylation (He and Moore 2005). Pta1 was identified as the Glc7 substrate in the mRNA 3' processing machinery. It has been proposed that Pta1 goes through a phosphorylation-dephosphorylation cycle during mRNA 3' processing and Glc7-mediated dephosphorylation is essential for the transition between cleavage and polyade-nylation (He and Moore 2005). Glc7 is regulated by another APF subunit, Ref2 (RNA end formation 2) (Nedea et al. 2008). Ref2 directly binds to RNA and is required for the efficient processing at weak poly(A) sites (Russnak et al. 1995). Additionally, Ref2 mediates Glc7 association with the CPF complex. In the absence of Ref2, Glc7 dissociates from CPF, which results in defects in transcription termination at snoRNA genes (Nedea et al. 2008).

Swd2 is a WD-40 repeat protein essential for cell viability. It was first identified as part of Set1 (SET (Su(var)3-9; Enhancer of zeste; Trithorax) domain containing 1) /COMPAS (Complex Proteins Associated with Set1), which is essential for histone H3 methylation at lysine 4 (H3K4me) (Roguev et al. 2001; Miller et al. 2001). This epigenetic mark is important for gene expression and also for rDNA and telomeric heterochromatin silencing (Eissenberg and Shilatifard 2010). The presence of this epigenetic mark necessitates Swd2 (Cheng et al. 2004). Swd2 was also identified as part of the APT complex and functionally interacts with Ref2 (Nedea et al. 2003). Even though Swd2 is not essential for in vitro cleavage and polyadenylation, it is

required for RNA pol II transcription termination (Cheng et al. 2004). However, these two functions of Swd2 do not seem to be tightly coupled (Cheng et al. 2004).

Mpe1 has a putative zinc knuckle domain that may mediate RNA interactions and plays critical roles in mRNA 3' processing by promoting the specific interactions between CPF and the pre-mRNAs (Vo et al. 2001). Mpe1 shares limited homology with the mammalian protein Rbbp6, which interacts with Rb and p53 and has been implicated in cancer (Shi et al. 2009; Pugh et al. 2006; Sakai et al. 1995). The functions of Mpe1 in mRNA 3' processing remain poorly understood.

Syc1 shares homology with the C-terminal domain of Ysh1/Brr5 (Zhelkovsky et al. 2006). As mentioned above, *YSH1/BRR5* is essential for cell viability and mRNA 3' processing. *SYC1* is not essential, but its deletion rescues the growth and mRNA 3' processing defects in ysh1/brr5 mutant, indicating that Syc1 is a negative regulator of mRNA 3' processing (Zhelkovsky et al. 2006).

Pti1 shares homology with Rna15 and the mammalian CstF64 and interacts with Pta1, but Pti1functions in mRNA 3' processing have not been characterized in detail (Qu et al. 2007).

Poly(A) Binding Proteins

Poly(A) Binding Proteins (Pabps) play important roles in poly(A) tail length control (Mangus et al. 2003). S. cerevisiae encodes two main Pabps, Pab1 and Nab2, and they are homologous to the mammalian proteins PABPC1 and ZC3H14 (Soucek et al. 2012). Both proteins are essential for cell viability and depletion of either proteins leads to a global lengthening of poly(A) tails in vivo (Sachs and Davis 1989; Anderson et al. 1993). Nab2 is believed to be the major Pabp in the nucleus. It is co-transcriptional recruited to the nascent transcripts (Soucek et al. 2012). Nab2 physically interacts with Hrp1 and genetically interacts with Pap1, Rna15, and Syc1 (Soucek et al. 2012; Yu et al. 2008; Kerr et al. 2013). Nab2 interacts with RNAs through its zinc finger domains (Anderson et al. 1993; Marfatia et al. 2003). However, it remains poorly understood how Nab2 contributes to poly(A) tail length control. Additionally, Nab2 interacts with the Mlp1 (Myosin Like Protein 1), a factor involved in the nuclear retention of unspliced mRNAs and the nuclear exosome subunit Rrp6 (Green et al. 2003). These observations suggest that Nab2 contributes to mRNA quality control by targeting misprocessed RNAs to the exosome for degradation (Schmid et al. 2012; Soucek et al. 2012). Following mRNA export, Nab2 is believed to be replaced by Pab1 during the mRNP remodeling (Soucek et al. 2012). Pab1 contains four RRM domains and is associated with CFIA through the interaction with Rna15 (Amrani et al. 1997). In addition to its role in nuclear mRNA 3' processing, Pab1 also mediates poly(A) shortening to promote translation in vivo (Sachs and Davis 1989). Pab1 recruits the Pab1-dependent Poly(A) Nuclease (PAN) to trim the poly(A) tails (Mangus et al. 2004). Because overexpression of Pab1 cannot rescue the hyperadenylation defect in nab2-deficient cells, these proteins have nonoverlapping functions (Hector et al. 2002). For example, Pab1 is able to bind mRNA with poly(A) tails as short as 10 nt, whereas Nab2 associates mainly with mature poly(A) tails (60–80 nt) (Hector et al. 2002).

S. pombe 3' Processing Factors

Despite the fact that *S. pombe* and *S. cerevisiae* are evolutionary rather distant, their mRNA 3' processing machineries are more similar to each other than to the mammalian system. For example, the *S. pombe* poly(A) polymerase Pla1 shows a higher sequence similarity with *S. cerevisiae* Pap1 (55 % identity) than with its mammalian homologues (88). Consistently, *S. cerevisiae* Pap1 can be functionally substituted both in vivo and in vitro by Pla1, whereas Pla1 cannot replace mammalian Pap1 in vitro (Ohnacker et al. 1996). These results suggest that Pla1 is able to interact with *S. cerevisiae* mRNA 3' processing factors efficiently enough to correctly process pre-mRNAs. Due to these similarities, the *S. pombe* ura4 transcript can be cleaved and polyadenylated in vitro in *S. cerevisiae* cell extracts, and conversely, the *S. cerevisiae* cyc1 mRNA is correctly processed in vivo when expressed in *S. pombe* (Humphrey et al. 1991).

On the other hand, some of 3' processing factors in *S. pombe* seem functionally closer to their mammalian homologs than to their budding yeast counterparts. For example, *S. pombe* Ctf1 (also called spCstF-64) is homolog to *S. cerevisiae* Rna15 and mammalian CstF64 (Aranda and Proudfoot 2001). Unlike Rna15, which recognizes the PE upstream of CS (39), Ctf1 binds to the EE downstream to the CS (Dichtl and Keller 2001). This is similar to its mammalian homolog CstF64, which has been shown to bind specifically to U/GU-rich sequences downstream of the CS (MacDonald et al. 1994; Takagaki and Manley 1997; Yao et al. 2012)(Table 3.1).

Interestingly, mRNA 3' processing defects have been shown to manifest in some unexpected phenotypes in *S. pombe*. For example, mutations in *PFS2* gene cause chromosome segregation defects, which are believed to be downstream effect of mRNA 3' processing and transcription termination malfunctions (Wang et al. 2005). Supporting this conclusion, transcription termination defects are observed in cells deficient for Pfs2 and the chromosome segregation defects are suppressed by overexpression of another mRNA 3' processing factor Cft1(Wang et al. 2005). In keeping with the link between transcription termination and cell cycle, Dhp1, a 5'-3' exonuclease homologous to Rat1 in *S. cerevisiae*, is also required for chromosome segregation (Shobuike et al. 2001; Sugano et al. 1994).

Although most mRNA 3' processing factors in *S. pombe* have not been studied in detail, the Pabps have been characterized. *S. pombe* encodes for two RRMcontaining Pabps, Pabp and Pab2 (Perreault et al. 2007; Thakurta et al. 2002). These proteins are nonessential for cell viability, suggesting functional redundancy. Pabp is the homolog of *S. cerevisiae* Pab1, and has been shown to be involved in mRNA export (Thakurta et al. 2002). Pab2 shares 47 % identity and 66 % similarity with human PABPN1, and possess a coiled-coil region, an RRM, and a C-terminal arginine-rich domain. Pab2 binds to RNA poly(A) tails in vitro, and regulates mRNA poly(A) length in vivo (Perreault et al. 2007). Indeed, the maximum length of the poly(A) tail exceeds 226 nt in pab2-deficient cells as compared to 120 nt in wild type cells. Pab2 has been shown to self-associate in an RNA-independent manner. Similar to PABPN1, Pab2 is methylated at the R residues of the R-rich domain by Rmt1, a type I protein arginine N-methyltransferase (Perreault et al. 2007). R methylation is important for Pab2 oligomerization, but not for its nuclear localization or its function in regulation of poly(A) tail length. Mutations in the human PABPN1 gene are linked to oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OMPD), a disease characterized by fibrous inclusions in the nuclei of skeletal muscle fibers (Jenal et al. 2012; de Klerk et al. 2012). Interestingly, Pab2 overexpression leads to growth defects mediated by the R-rich domain, exacerbated when rmt1 is deleted, suggesting that elevated levels of unmethylated Pab2 is toxic for the cells (Perreault et al. 2007). Altogether these data suggest that Pab2 is functionally similar to its human homolog. Chromatin immunoprecipitation data indicate that although Pab2 binds to the poly(A) tail of mRNA, it might be recruited at earlier steps of transcription through its interaction with the large RNA pol II subunit Rpb1 (Perreault et al. 2007).

Regulators of mRNA 3' Processing

Several factors have been identified as regulators of mRNA 3' processing. One of the negative regulators is the RNA-binding protein Npl3 (Nuclear Protein Localization 3) (Bucheli and Buratowski 2005). Npl3 contains two RRMs and a domain that is rich in Serine/Arginine (SR) dipeptide repeats, a domain structure that is similar to the SR family splicing regulators in higher eukaryotes (Graveley 2000). Npl3 is required for the correct splicing of several mRNAs by mediating the recruitment of splicing factors via direct interaction (Kress et al. 2008). In addition to its functions in splicing, Npl3 stimulates transcription elongation through interactions with RNA pol II and impedes efficient transcription termination by competing with Rna15 for binding to the A-rich PE of the PAS (Dermody et al. 2008; Deka et al. 2008). Phosphorylation of Npl3 by Casein Kinase 2 (CK2) decreases its interaction with the RNA pol II and its ability to bind RNA, thereby promoting transcription termination (Dermody et al. 2008). Moreover, Npl3 phosphorylation stimulates a negative autoregulation by promoting the distal PAS usage of NPL3 transcript, which leads to a decrease in Npl3 protein level (Lund et al. 2008).

The mRNA export adaptor Yra1 has also been shown to regulate mRNA 3' processing. Yra1 negatively regulates 3' end formation by competing with Clp1 for interaction with Pcf11, and depletion of Yra1 leads to changes in the global APA profile (Johnson et al. 2009, 2011).

Factors Required for S. cerevisiae Histones mRNA 3' Processing

The expression of replication-dependent histone genes is highly regulated during the cell cycle to allow accumulation of histone mRNAs specifically during the S phase (Marzluff et al. 2008). In metazoans, the 3' ends of replication-dependent histone mRNAs are formed by an endonucleolytic cleavage step without polyadenylation (Marzluff et al. 2008). This process involves the recognition of a highly conserved stem-loop by the SLBP protein and the downstream sequences by the U7 snRNP at the 3' ends of the mRNAs. But mRNA 3' processing factors, such as CPSF and CstF, are also required. The metazoan histone mRNA 3' processing activities are regulated in a cell cycle-specific manner (Marzluff et al. 2008).

In contrast to metazoans, the 3' ends of histone mRNAs in fungi, plants, and protozoa generated through the regular cleavage/polyadenylation mechanism and the 3' processing of these mRNA requires the canonical mRNA 3' processing factors, including Rna14, Pcf11, Rna15, and Pap1 (Fahrner et al. 1980; Canavan and Bond 2007). However, recent studies have implicated Sen1, a putative helicase required for the 3' processing of many nonpolyadenylated RNAs, in yeast histone mRNA 3' processing (Beggs et al. 2012). Additionally, in *S. cerevisiae*, the poly(A) tails of histone mRNAs, which are 20–50 nt, are shorter than the average length (70–90 nt), and their poly(A) tails shorten during the *S* phase (Beggs et al. 2012). *S* phase-specific inhibition of Pap1 activity by phosphorylation might be a potential mechanism for histone mRNA poly(A) tail length control. Further studies are needed to understand how histone mRNAs levels are regulated by the cell cycle and how such mechanisms evolved during evolution.

Release of mRNA 3' Processing Factors After Polyadenylation

Although the assembly of the mRNA 3' processing machinery has been studied extensively, how these factors are released following polyadenylation remains poorly understood. An important insight came from the observation that mutations in factors involved in mRNA export or the assembly of export-competent mRNPs (such as Mex67), lead to a defect in the release of mRNA 3' processing factors from mRNAs (Qu et al. 2009). This suggest that a remodeling of mRNPs takes place during which mRNA export factors may replace 3' processing factors on polyadenylated mRNAs (Qu et al. 2009). This functional coupling may help to ensure that only fully processed mRNAs are targeted for export, but the mechanistic details of this mRNP remodeling step remain unclear.

Alternative Polyadenylation and its Regulation in Fungi

Recent global studies have revealed that APA is surprisingly widespread in yeast. For example, it is estimated that 40–70 % of the S. cerevisiae and S. pombe genes produce alternatively polyadenylated mRNAs whose CS are separated by 50 nt or more (Ozsolak et al. 2010; Mata 2013; Schlackow et al. 2013; Moqtaderi et al. 2013; Yoon and Brem 2010). However, as mentioned earlier, there seems to be a high level of heterogeneity in the position of the CS in yeast (Moqtaderi et al. 2013). Rather than one or a few distinct CS, cleavage/polyadenylation occurs in a ~ 200 nt "end zone." Thus, it may be difficult to distinguish between CS heterogeneity from the same PAS and APA. However, recent studies clearly demonstrated that APA is widespread in fungi (Ozsolak et al. 2010; Mata 2013; Schlackow et al. 2013; Mogtaderi et al. 2013; Yoon and Brem 2010). In S. cerevisiae, more than 600 genes use PAS within the CDS, producing truncated transcripts. Interestingly, a motif, GAAGAAGA, is enriched in the 50 nucleotides upstream of the intragenic CS. These truncated transcripts originate mainly from genes involved in stress response and meiosis (Yoon and Brem 2010). Indeed, APA has been implicated in cellular responses to many types of stress and in the regulation of meiotic gene expression, which are discussed in details below.

APA Regulation and Metabolism

One of the first examples of APA regulation in budding yeast was described for the gene CBP1 (Cytochrome b processing 1) (Mayer and Dieckmann 1989). Cbp1 is required for the expression of the mitochondrial gene encoding Cytochrome B, a component of the electron transport chain in respiration. In fermenting cells, two CBP1 APA isoforms are produced (Mayer and Dieckmann 1989). The short isoform uses a PAS within the CDS and the resulting truncated mRNA does not code for any protein product. The longer isoform encodes the functional Cbp1 protein. Following induction of respiration by switching to a nonfermentable carbon source, there is a shift in CBP1 APA pattern from the long to the short isoform while the total mRNA level remains unchanged (Sparks and Dieckmann 1998; Mayer and Dieckmann 1989). Three additional mRNAs were later shown to undergo the same type of respiration-dependent APA change: AEP2/ATP13, which is also necessary for respiration, and RNA14 and SIR1. Like CBP1, AEP2 encodes a factor required for the expression of a mitochondrial respiration gene (ATP9). Rna14 is a mRNA 3' processing factor (see "CFIA"), and SIR1 encodes a mating type locus silencing factor. Suppression of the short CBP1 transcript leads to the constitutive production of elevated levels of the long CBP1 transcript independently of respiration induction, which in turn results in the accumulation of the mitochondrial CYTOCHROME B mRNAs (Sparks and Dieckmann 1998). These



Fig. 3.3 Metabolism-mediated APA regulation. In fermenting *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells, polyadenylation occurs mainly at the distal poly(A) site downstream of the coding sequences, leading to production of the full-length mRNAs. In respiring cells, polyadenylation shifts to the proximal poly(A) sites in the coding sequences, leading to the production of truncated transcripts

observations indicate that the APA may be a mechanism for respiration-dependent regulation of gene expression (Fig. 3.3). However, the mechanism and biological significance of APA regulation by metabolism remain to be determined.

APA Regulation and DNA Damage Response

APA changes have been observed in response to DNA damage (Fig. 3.4). For example, polyadenylation of RPB2 (RNA Polymerase B 2) and CBP1 mRNAs switches from the proximal to the distal PAS upon UV irradiation (Yu and Volkert 2013). A global study detected similar APA changes for over 2,000 genes under similar conditions (Graber et al. 2013). Two possible mechanisms have been proposed, which are not mutually exclusive. First, the transcription elongation rate has been suggested to play an important role (Yu and Volkert 2013). A pharmacologically induced decrease in transcription elongation rate abolishes the APA changes in RPB2 mRNAs following DNA damage (Yu and Volkert 2013), indicating that fast transcription elongation rate promotes skipping of the proximal PAS. Second, UV-induced DNA damage has been shown to cause a reduction in the protein levels of CPF subunits and in turn lower mRNA 3' processing activity. The decrease in the 3' processing activity results in the preferential recognition of the distal PAS as they are intrinsically stronger and have higher affinity for the mRNA 3' processing machinery (Graber et al. 2013) (Fig. 3.4). Interestingly, a transient inhibition of the mRNA 3' processing machinery has been observed in mammalian cells (Kleiman and Manley 2001). This is mediated by sequestration of CstF50 by the BRCA1-BARD1 complex following DNA damage (Kleiman and



Fig. 3.4 APA regulation in DNA damage response. In unstressed cells, high levels of CPF allows for the recognition of weak poly(A) sites in the coding sequences, leading to the production of truncated transcripts. Following UV-induced DNA damage, CPF levels decrease and the remaining CPF preferentially binds to the strong distal poly(A) sites downstream of the coding sequences, leading to production of full-length mRNAs

Manley 2001). It will be of great interest to determine how CPF levels are regulated and what the functional importance of these APA changes is for cellular survival after DNA damage.

Nab4/Hrp1-Mediated APA Regulation and Copper Stress

The general 3' processing factor Nab4/Hrp1 has been identified as an important APA regulator (Kim Guisbert et al. 2007). The *SUA7* gene (Suppressor of Upstream AUG 7) produces two APA isoforms. The long isoform is more abundant in exponentially growing cells while the short isoform accumulates during stationary phase (Hoopes et al. 2000). Nab4/Hrp1 was found to be critical for regulating the cell cycle-dependent ratio of the isoforms (Kim Guisbert et al. 2007). Nab4/Hrp1 binds to a UA-rich motif and promote the usage of adjacent

PAS. Additionally, the protein level of Nab4/Hrp1 is also important: high levels of Nab4/Hrp1 promote the usage of the proximal PAS in *SUA7* mRNA (Kim Guisbert et al. 2007). However, it has not been determined whether and how Nab4/Hrp1 protein level is regulated in cell cycle. Interestingly, nab4/hrp1 mutant stains are extremely resistant to high concentration of copper. This is due to the APA change in the *CTR2* gene, which encodes a copper transporter. In nab4/hrp1 mutant strain, the level of the *CTR2* mRNA isoforms with the longest 3' UTR increases (Kim Guisbert et al. 2007). These observations suggest that APA regulation plays an important role in cellular stress induced by copper and perhaps other metals.

APA Regulation of Meiotic Gene Expression

A subset of meiotic genes in *S. pombe* was also shown to undergo APA upon meiosis induction, and it was suggested to be important for the regulation of their expression (McPheeters et al. 2009; Cremona et al. 2011; Potter et al. 2012). The mechanisms involved are discussed in a following paragraph.

The first example of meiosis-dependent APA regulation was demonstrated for the meiotic gene CRS1 (McPheeters et al. 2009). CRS1 mRNAs are polyadenylated at two PAS. In vegetative cells, CRS1 mRNAs are actively degraded by the Mmi1 pathway as described later ("mRNA 3' Processing in the Regulation of S. pombe Meiotic Genes"). Upon meiosis, Mmi1-mediated repression is alleviated and CRS1 mRNA undergoes splicing-coupled polyadenylation at both proximal and distal PAS. Even though the ratio between the short and the long isoforms slightly changes during the time course of meiosis, the distal PAS is always more predominantly used over the proximal PAS (McPheeters et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2011). Later studies identified additional meiotic transcripts using meiosis specific 3' processingdependent regulation (Cremona et al. 2011; Potter et al. 2012). These transcripts were found to utilize more than one PAS upon meiosis induction, but again in this case the proximal PAS usage relatively to the distal PAS was not studied in detail. Although the biological consequences of meiotic-dependent APA are still not clear, APA might be an additional way to regulate the proper timing of activation of these genes during sexual differentiation progression.

Other Examples of Alternative Polyadenylation in Fungi

Kluyveromyces lactis (K. lactis) CYC1 mRNA (*KLCYC1*) was shown to use two distinct PAS, whereas *S. cerevisiae CYC1* mRNA has only one PAS (Freire-Picos et al. 1995). *CYC1* encodes the iso-1-cytochrome c factor, and *KLCYC1* is essential for respiratory growth in *K. lactis*. Specifically the longer APA isoform has been suggested to be responsible for an increase biomass production during respiration, and an inhibition of ethanol production during fermentation of *K. lactis* (Seoane et al.

2005). Comparison of the sequences surrounding the two CS revealed a common feature. There is an AACAA motif a few nucleotides upstream of the CS, and an AUrich region just upstream of the AACAA motif only for the proximal PAS. The ratio between the two isoforms changes according to cellular growth conditions: the distal PAS usage increases with the optical density of the culture (OD) when the proximal PAS usage remains constant. *KLCYC1* mRNA was correctly processed at the two PAS when transformed into *S. cerevisiae*, but the growth-dependent APA change was not observed, indicating the lack of a specific regulatory factor in *S. cerevisiae* (Freire-Picos et al. 2001). The mechanism for *KLCYC1* APA regulation remains unclear, but Pta1 and Pcf11 seem to be involved (Seoane et al. 2009).

Gene Regulation at the 3' End

In addition to APA, mRNA 3' processing can participate in gene regulation in other ways. The efficiency of mRNA 3' processing plays an important role in controlling the mRNA abundance. mRNA 3' processing factors can modulate other cellular processes to influence gene expression. In this section, we discuss a couple of such examples.

mRNA 3' Processing in the Regulation of S. pombe Meiotic Genes

In *S. pombe*, the mRNAs for meiotic genes are not detectable in vegetative cells (Harigaya et al. 2006). However, several lines of evidence suggest that meiotic genes are transcribed, but are actively degraded. First, depletion of the exosome subunit Rrp6 results in the accumulation of hyperpolyadenylated meiotic mRNAs, and hyperpolyadenylation of these mRNAs in the Rrp6-depleted cells depends on Mmi1 (Meiotic mRNA interception 1), the poly(A) polymerase Pla1 (Harigaya et al. 2006; Yamanaka et al. 2010), and Red1, a CCCH zinc-finger-containing protein interacting with Mmi1 (Sugiyama and Sugioka-Sugiyama 2011). Second, depletion of the mRNA 3' processing factors Rna15, Pla1 Pab2, Pfs2, and Dhp1, as well as several transcription termination factors all induce the accumulation of meiotic mRNAs (McPheeters et al. 2009; Yamanaka et al. 2010; St-Andre et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2011). Lastly, polyadenylation of meiotic mRNAs was shown to be required for their elimination in vegetative cells (McPheeters et al. 2009; Yamanaka et al. 2009; Yamanaka et al. 2010).

Mmi1 plays a central role in this regulation (Fig. 3.5) (Harigaya et al. 2006). In mitotic cells, Mmi1 interacts with meiotic mRNAs with a specific cis-element containing the degenerate hexanucleotide motif UNAAAC (Zhang et al. 2010; Hiriart et al. 2012; Yamashita et al. 2012). Mmi1 recruits mRNA 3' processing



Fig. 3.5 mRNA 3' processing factors are involved in the suppression of meiotic mRNAs. In vegetative cells, Mmi1 binds to UNAAC motifs in its target meiotic mRNAs and recruits mRNA 3' processing factors, leading to polyadenylation of its target mRNAs and their degradation by the exosome. Mmi1-mediated meiotic mRNA degradation also promotes the formation of heterochromatin at meiotic gene loci

factors including Rna15 and Pla1 to hyperpolyadenylate its mRNA targets, which in turn are degraded by the exosome (Yamanaka et al. 2010). Additionally, Mmimediated meiotic mRNA degradation promotes the formation of heterochromatin at meiotic genes, which also contributes to meiotic gene silencing (Zofall et al. 2012). During meiosis, Mmi1 is sequestered by the master meiotic regulator Mei2 and the meiotic mRNAs are derepressed (Harigaya et al. 2006). Although mRNA 3' processing factors are clearly involved in this regulatory pathway, their specific functions in this process remain unclear.

mRNA 3' Processing Regulates the Expression of Neighboring Genes

Given the compressed nature of the yeast genomes, transcription read-through due to inefficient mRNA 3' processing is likely to interfere with the expression of neighboring genes. When adjacent genes are arranged in tandem, transcription read-through from upstream genes may inhibit the transcription of downstream genes (Shearwin et al. 2005). On the other hand, when the neighboring genes are convergent, 3' processing defects may lead to the collision of the transcription machinery (Prescott and Proudfoot 2002). Additionally, a recent study revealed an additional mechanism in *S. pombe* that regulate convergent gene expression in a cell cycle-dependent manner (Gullerova and Proudfoot 2008, 2012). During G1-S

phases, inefficient transcription termination leads to transcription read-through. The resulting double-stranded RNAs formed between the transcripts of convergent genes lead to the activation of the RNAi pathway. A transient RNAi-dependent heterochromatin structure is formed in the intergenic region between the convergent genes, characterized by the histone modification H3K9me3 and Swi6 binding, both hallmarks of heterochromatin (for more details see Chap. 13). Through a direct interaction. Swi6 induces the recruitment of cohesins at the chromatin of these convergent genes in the G2 phase. Cohesins are proteins involved in the regulation of sister chromatid separation during cell division. The presence of cohesins between convergent genes blocks transcription read-through and promotes transcription termination at the proper PAS, thereby restoring the mRNA levels of the convergent genes. After mitosis, cohesins are released and the heterochromatin structure at these loci is relieved (Gullerova and Proudfoot 2008, 2012). In S. cerevisiae, cohesins were also shown to concentrate at intergenic regions of convergent genes (Lengronne et al. 2004), but as H3K9me3 and RNAi are not conserved in budding yeast, this process might involve a different mechanism. This cell cycle-dependent gene regulation involving transcription termination regulation has been shown to be particularly important for the regulation of RNAi genes as 80 % of RNAi genes are convergent. This process of autoregulation may be important for the regulation of heterochromatin formation during different phases of the cell cycle (Gullerova and Proudfoot 2012; Zofall et al. 2012).

Conclusion /Future Directions

Studies in fungi have made tremendous contribution to our understanding of eukaryotic mRNA 3' processing. Given the genetic tractability and the advent of high throughput analysis approaches, fungi will prove highly useful in addressing the remaining important questions in the field. First, although the list of essential mRNA 3' processing factors is nearly complete, the functions of each factor in 3' processing remains poorly characterized. The combination of genetic and biochemical analyses will be key to address this question. Second, as mentioned earlier, the mRNA 3' processing machinery has evolved quite significantly in eukaryotes. Both PAS sequences and mRNA 3' processing factors have diverged in different lineages and species. Given the increasingly number of species with their genomes sequenced, fungi provide a unique system to study the evolution of the mRNA 3' processing system. Third, APA has increasingly been recognized as an important mechanism for gene regulation. Since APA is widespread in yeast and some of the regulatory mechanisms seem highly conserved between yeast and mammals, fungi again will be very useful in deciphering the "polyadenylation code," the rules by which PAS selection is regulated.

References

- Amrani N, Minet M, Le Gouar M, Lacroute F, Wyers F (1997) Yeast Pabl interacts with Rna15 and participates in the control of the poly(A) tail length in vitro. Mol Cell Biol 17(7): 3694–3701
- Anderson JT, Wilson SM, Datar KV, Swanson MS (1993) NAB2: a yeast nuclear polyadenylated RNA-binding protein essential for cell viability. Mol Cell Biol 13(5):2730–2741
- Aranda A, Proudfoot N (2001) Transcriptional termination factors for RNA polymerase II in yeast. Mol Cell 7(5):1003–1011
- Barabino SM, Hubner W, Jenny A, Minvielle-Sebastia L, Keller W (1997) The 30-kD subunit of mammalian cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor and its yeast homolog are RNA-binding zinc finger proteins. Genes Dev 11(13):1703–1716
- Barilla D, Lee BA, Proudfoot NJ (2001) Cleavage/polyadenylation factor IA associates with the carboxyl-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(2):445–450
- Beggs S, James TC, Bond U (2012) The PolyA tail length of yeast histone mRNAs varies during the cell cycle and is influenced by Sen1p and Rrp6p. Nucleic Acids Res 40(6):2700–2711
- Bentley DL (2005) Rules of engagement: co-transcriptional recruitment of pre-mRNA processing factors. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17(3):251–256
- Birse CE, Lee BA, Hansen K, Proudfoot NJ (1997) Transcriptional termination signals for RNA polymerase II in fission yeast. EMBO J 16(12):3633–3643
- Bougie I, Bisaillon M (2007) Characterization of the RNA binding energetics of the Candida albicans poly(A) polymerase. Yeast 24(5):431–446
- Bucheli ME, Buratowski S (2005) Npl3 is an antagonist of mRNA 3' end formation by RNA polymerase II. EMBO J 24(12):2150–2160
- Buratowski S (2003) The CTD code. Nat Struct Biol 10(9):679-680
- Canavan R, Bond U (2007) Deletion of the nuclear exosome component RRP6 leads to continued accumulation of the histone mRNA HTB1 in S-phase of the cell cycle in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nucleic Acids Res 35(18):6268–6279
- Chakraborty S, Sarmah B, Chakraborty N, Datta A (2002) Premature termination of RNA polymerase II mediated transcription of a seed protein gene in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. Nucleic Acids Res 30(13):2940–2949
- Chan S, Choi EA, Shi Y (2011) Pre-mRNA 3'-end processing complex assembly and function. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 2(3):321–335
- Chen HM, Futcher B, Leatherwood J (2011) The fission yeast RNA binding protein Mmi1 regulates meiotic genes by controlling intron specific splicing and polyadenylation coupled RNA turnover. PLoS ONE 6(10):e26804
- Chen S, Hyman LE (1998) A specific RNA-protein interaction at yeast polyadenylation efficiency elements. Nucleic Acids Res 26(21):4965–4974
- Cheng H, He X, Moore C (2004) The essential WD repeat protein Swd2 has dual functions in RNA polymerase II transcription termination and lysine 4 methylation of histone H3. Mol Cell Biol 24(7):2932–2943
- Colgan DF, Manley JL (1997) Mechanism and regulation of mRNA polyadenylation. Genes Dev 11(21):2755–2766
- Connelly S, Manley JL (1988) A functional mRNA polyadenylation signal is required for transcription termination by RNA polymerase II. Genes Dev 2(4):440–452
- Cremona N, Potter K, Wise JA (2011) A meiotic gene regulatory cascade driven by alternative fates for newly synthesized transcripts. Mol Biol Cell 22(1):66–77
- Danckwardt S, Hentze MW, Kulozik AE (2008) 3' end mRNA processing: molecular mechanisms and implications for health and disease. EMBO J 27(3):482–498
- Darmon SK, Lutz CS (2012) mRNA 3' end processing factors: a phylogenetic comparison. Comp Funct Genomics 2012:876893

- de Klerk E, Venema A, Anvar SY, Goeman JJ, Hu O, den Dunnen JT, van der Maarel SM, Raz V, t Hoen PA (2012) Poly(A) binding protein nuclear 1 levels affect alternative polyadenylation. Nucleic Acids Res 40(18):9089–9101
- Deka P, Bucheli ME, Moore C, Buratowski S, Varani G (2008) Structure of the yeast SR protein Npl3 and Interaction with mRNA 3'-end processing signals. J Mol Biol 375(1):136–150
- Dermody JL, Dreyfuss JM, Villen J, Ogundipe B, Gygi SP, Park PJ, Ponticelli AS, Moore CL, Buratowski S, Bucheli ME (2008) Unphosphorylated SR-like protein Npl3 stimulates RNA polymerase II elongation. PLoS ONE 3(9):e3273
- Derti A, Garrett-Engele P, Macisaac KD, Stevens RC, Sriram S, Chen R, Rohl CA, Johnson JM, Babak T (2012) A quantitative atlas of polyadenylation in five mammals. Genome Res 22(6):1173–1183
- Di Giammartino DC, Nishida K, Manley JL (2011) Mechanisms and consequences of alternative polyadenylation. Mol Cell 43(6):853–866
- Dichtl B, Blank D, Ohnacker M, Friedlein A, Roeder D, Langen H, Keller W (2002a) A role for SSU72 in balancing RNA polymerase II transcription elongation and termination. Mol Cell 10(5):1139–1150
- Dichtl B, Blank D, Sadowski M, Hubner W, Weiser S, Keller W (2002b) Yhh1p/Cft1p directly links poly(A) site recognition and RNA polymerase II transcription termination. EMBO J 21(15):4125–4135
- Dichtl B, Keller W (2001) Recognition of polyadenylation sites in yeast pre-mRNAs by cleavage and polyadenylation factor. EMBO J 20(12):3197–3209
- Eissenberg JC, Shilatifard A (2010) Histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) methylation in development and differentiation. Dev Biol 339(2):240–249
- Elkon R, Ugalde AP, Agami R (2013) Alternative cleavage and polyadenylation: extent, regulation and function. Nat Rev Genet 14(7):496–506
- Ezeokonkwo C, Ghazy MA, Zhelkovsky A, Yeh PC, Moore C (2012) Novel interactions at the essential N-terminus of poly(A) polymerase that could regulate poly(A) addition in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEBS Lett 586(8):1173–1178
- Fahrner K, Yarger J, Hereford L (1980) Yeast histone mRNA is polyadenylated. Nucleic Acids Res 8(23):5725–5737
- Flavell SW, Kim TK, Gray JM, Harmin DA, Hemberg M, Hong EJ, Markenscoff-Papadimitriou E, Bear DM, Greenberg ME (2008) Genome-wide analysis of MEF2 transcriptional program reveals synaptic target genes and neuronal activity-dependent polyadenylation site selection. Neuron 60(6):1022–1038
- Franceschetti M, Bueno E, Wilson RA, Tucker SL, Gomez-Mena C, Calder G, Sesma A (2011) Fungal virulence and development is regulated by alternative pre-mRNA 3'-end processing in *Magnaporthe oryzae*. PLoS Pathog 7(12):e1002441
- Freire-Picos MA, Hollenberg CP, Breunig KD, Cerdan ME (1995) Regulation of cytochrome c expression in the aerobic respiratory yeast *Kluyveromyces lactis*. FEBS Lett 360(1):39–42
- Freire-Picos MA, Lombardia-Ferreira LJ, Ramil E, Gonzalez-Dominguez M, Cerdan ME (2001) The KICYC1 gene, a downstream region for two differentially regulated transcripts. Yeast 18(14):1347–1355
- Graber JH, Nazeer FI, Yeh PC, Kuehner JN, Borikar S, Hoskinson D, Moore CL (2013) DNA damage induces targeted, genome-wide variation of poly(A) sites in budding yeast. Genome Res 23(10):1690–1703
- Graveley BR (2000) Sorting out the complexity of SR protein functions. RNA 6(9):1197-1211
- Green DM, Johnson CP, Hagan H, Corbett AH (2003) The C-terminal domain of myosin-like protein 1 (Mlp1p) is a docking site for heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins that are required for mRNA export. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100(3):1010–1015
- Gross S, Moore CL (2001) Rna15 interaction with the A-rich yeast polyadenylation signal is an essential step in mRNA 3'-end formation. Mol Cell Biol 21(23):8045–8055
- Gullerova M, Proudfoot NJ (2008) Cohesin complex promotes transcriptional termination between convergent genes in *S. pombe*. Cell 132(6):983–995

- Gullerova M, Proudfoot NJ (2012) Convergent transcription induces transcriptional gene silencing in fission yeast and mammalian cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19(11):1193–1201
- Hansen K, Birse CE, Proudfoot NJ (1998) Nascent transcription from the nmt1 and nmt2 genes of Schizosaccharomyces pombe overlaps neighbouring genes. EMBO J 17(11):3066–3077
- Harigaya Y, Tanaka H, Yamanaka S, Tanaka K, Watanabe Y, Tsutsumi C, Chikashige Y, Hiraoka Y, Yamashita A, Yamamoto M (2006) Selective elimination of messenger RNA prevents an incidence of untimely meiosis. Nature 442(7098):45–50
- Hausmann S, Koiwa H, Krishnamurthy S, Hampsey M, Shuman S (2005) Different strategies for carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD) recognition by serine 5-specific CTD phosphatases. J Biol Chem 280(45):37681–37688
- He X, Khan AU, Cheng H, Pappas DL Jr, Hampsey M, Moore CL (2003) Functional interactions between the transcription and mRNA 3' end processing machineries mediated by Ssu72 and Sub1. Genes Dev 17(8):1030–1042
- He X, Moore C (2005) Regulation of yeast mRNA 3' end processing by phosphorylation. Mol Cell 19(5):619–629
- Hector RE, Nykamp KR, Dheur S, Anderson JT, Non PJ, Urbinati CR, Wilson SM, Minvielle-Sebastia L, Swanson MS (2002) Dual requirement for yeast hnRNP Nab2p in mRNA poly(A) tail length control and nuclear export. EMBO J 21(7):1800–1810
- Helmling S, Zhelkovsky A, Moore CL (2001) Fip1 regulates the activity of Poly(A) polymerase through multiple interactions. Mol Cell Biol 21(6):2026–2037
- Hiriart E, Vavasseur A, Touat-Todeschini L, Yamashita A, Gilquin B, Lambert E, Perot J, Shichino Y, Nazaret N, Boyault C, Lachuer J, Perazza D, Yamamoto M, Verdel A (2012) Mmi1 RNA surveillance machinery directs RNAi complex RITS to specific meiotic genes in fission yeast. EMBO J 31(10):2296–2308
- Hirose Y, Manley JL (2000) RNA polymerase II and the integration of nuclear events. Genes Dev 14(12):1415–1429
- Hoopes BC, Bowers GD, DiVisconte MJ (2000) The two Saccharomyces cerevisiae SUA7 (TFIIB) transcripts differ at the 3'-end and respond differently to stress. Nucleic Acids Res 28(22):4435–4443
- Humphrey T, Birse CE, Proudfoot NJ (1994) RNA 3' end signals of the S. pombe ura4 gene comprise a site determining and efficiency element. EMBO J 13(10):2441–2451
- Humphrey T, Christofori G, Lucijanic V, Keller W (1987) Cleavage and polyadenylation of messenger RNA precursors in vitro occurs within large and specific 3' processing complexes. EMBO J 6(13):4159–4168
- Humphrey T, Sadhale P, Platt T, Proudfoot N (1991) Homologous mRNA 3' end formation in fission and budding yeast. EMBO J 10(11):3503–3511
- Jenal M, Elkon R, Loayza-Puch F, van Haaften G, Kuhn U, Menzies FM, Oude Vrielink JA, Bos AJ, Drost J, Rooijers K, Rubinsztein DC, Agami R (2012) The poly(A)-binding protein nuclear 1 suppresses alternative cleavage and polyadenylation sites. Cell 149(3):538–553
- Johnson SA, Cubberley G, Bentley DL (2009) Cotranscriptional recruitment of the mRNA export factor Yra1 by direct interaction with the 3' end processing factor Pcf11. Mol Cell 33(2):215–226
- Johnson SA, Kim H, Erickson B, Bentley DL (2011) The export factor Yra1 modulates mRNA 3' end processing. Nat Struct Mol Biol 18(10):1164–1171
- Kerr SC, Azzouz N, Fuchs SM, Collart MA, Strahl BD, Corbett AH, Laribee RN (2013) The Ccr4-Not complex interacts with the mRNA export machinery. PLoS ONE 6(3):e18302
- Kessler MM, Henry MF, Shen E, Zhao J, Gross S, Silver PA, Moore CL (1997) Hrp1, a sequencespecific RNA-binding protein that shuttles between the nucleus and the cytoplasm, is required for mRNA 3'-end formation in yeast. Genes Dev 11(19):2545–2556
- Kessler MM, Zhao J, Moore CL (1996) Purification of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae cleavage/ polyadenylation factor I. Separation into two components that are required for both cleavage and polyadenylation of mRNA 3' ends. J Biol Chem 271(43):27167–27175
- Kim Guisbert KS, Li H, Guthrie C (2007) Alternative 3' pre-mRNA processing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is modulated by Nab4/Hrp1 in vivo. PLoS Biol 5(1):e6

- Kim M, Krogan NJ, Vasiljeva L, Rando OJ, Nedea E, Greenblatt JF, Buratowski S (2004) The yeast Rat1 exonuclease promotes transcription termination by RNA polymerase II. Nature 432(7016):517–522
- Kleiman FE, Manley JL (2001) The BARD1-CstF-50 interaction links mRNA 3' end formation to DNA damage and tumor suppression. Cell 104(5):743–753
- Kress TL, Krogan NJ, Guthrie C (2008) A single SR-like protein, Npl3, promotes pre-mRNA splicing in budding yeast. Mol Cell 32(5):727–734
- Krishnamurthy S, He X, Reyes-Reyes M, Moore C, Hampsey M (2004) Ssu72 is an RNA polymerase II CTD phosphatase. Mol Cell 14(3):387–394
- Kyburz A (2003) The role of the yeast cleavage and polyadenylation factor subunit Ydh1p/Cft2p in pre-mRNA 3'-end formation. Nucleic Acids Res 31(14):3936–3945
- Lee JY, Yeh I, Park JY, Tian B (2007) PolyA_DB 2: mRNA polyadenylation sites in vertebrate genes. Nucleic Acids Res 35(Database issue):D165–D168.
- Leeper TC, Qu X, Lu C, Moore C, Varani G (2010) Novel protein–protein contacts facilitate mRNA 3'-processing signal recognition by Rna15 and Hrp1. J Mol Biol 401(3):334–349
- Lengronne A, Katou Y, Mori S, Yokobayashi S, Kelly GP, Itoh T, Watanabe Y, Shirahige K, Uhlmann F (2004) Cohesin relocation from sites of chromosomal loading to places of convergent transcription. Nature 430(6999):573–578
- Licatalosi DD, Geiger G, Minet M, Schroeder S, Cilli K, McNeil JB, Bentley DL (2002) Functional interaction of yeast pre-mRNA 3' end processing factors with RNA polymerase II. Mol Cell 9(5):1101–1111
- Lingner J, Radtke I, Wahle E, Keller W (1991) Purification and characterization of poly(A) polymerase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biol Chem 266(14):8741–8746
- Lund MK, Kress TL, Guthrie C (2008) Autoregulation of Npl3, a yeast SR protein, requires a novel downstream region and serine phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol 28(11):3873–3881
- MacDonald CC, Wilusz J, Shenk T (1994) The 64-kilodalton subunit of the CstF polyadenylation factor binds to pre-mRNAs downstream of the cleavage site and influences cleavage site location. Mol Cell Biol 14(10):6647–6654
- Mandart E, Parker R (1995) Effects of mutations in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* RNA14, RNA15, and PAP1 genes on polyadenylation in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 15(12):6979–6986
- Mandel CR, Bai Y, Tong L (2008) Protein factors in pre-mRNA 3'-end processing. Cell Mol Life Sci 65(7–8):1099–1122
- Mandel CR, Kaneko S, Zhang H, Gebauer D, Vethantham V, Manley JL, Tong L (2006) Polyadenylation factor CPSF-73 is the pre-mRNA 3'-end-processing endonuclease. Nature 444(7121):953–956
- Mangus DA, Evans MC, Agrin NS, Smith M, Gongidi P, Jacobson A (2004) Positive and negative regulation of poly(A) nuclease. Mol Cell Biol 24(12):5521–5533
- Mangus DA, Evans MC, Jacobson A (2003) Poly(A)-binding proteins: multifunctional scaffolds for the post-transcriptional control of gene expression. Genome Biol 4(7):223
- Marfatia KA, Crafton EB, Green DM, Corbett AH (2003) Domain analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein, Nab2p. Dissecting the requirements for Nab2p-facilitated poly(A) RNA export. J Biol Chem 278(9):6731–6740
- Marzluff WF, Wagner EJ, Duronio RJ (2008) Metabolism and regulation of canonical histone mRNAs: life without a poly(A) tail. Nat Rev Genet 9(11):843–854
- Mata J (2013) Genome-wide mapping of polyadenylation sites in fission yeast reveals widespread alternative polyadenylation. RNA Biol 10(8):1407–1414
- Mayer SA, Dieckmann CL (1989) The yeast CBP1 gene produces two differentially regulated transcripts by alternative 3'-end formation. Mol Cell Biol 9(10):4161–4169
- Mayer SA, Dieckmann CL (1991) Yeast CBP1 mRNA 3' end formation is regulated during the induction of mitochondrial function. Mol Cell Biol 11(2):813–821
- Mayr C, Bartel DP (2009) Widespread shortening of 3'UTRs by alternative cleavage and polyadenylation activates oncogenes in cancer cells. Cell 138(4):673–684

- McPheeters DS, Cremona N, Sunder S, Chen HM, Averbeck N, Leatherwood J, Wise JA (2009) A complex gene regulatory mechanism that operates at the nexus of multiple RNA processing decisions. Nat Struct Mol Biol16(3):255–264
- Meinhart A, Cramer P (2004) Recognition of RNA polymerase II carboxy-terminal domain by 3'-RNA-processing factors. Nature 430(6996):223–226
- Meinke G, Ezeokonkwo C, Balbo P, Stafford W, Moore C, Bohm A (2008) Structure of yeast poly(A) polymerase in complex with a peptide from Fip1, an intrinsically disordered protein. Biochemistry 47(26):6859–6869
- Miller T, Krogan NJ, Dover J, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Johnston M, Greenblatt JF, Shilatifard A (2001) COMPASS: a complex of proteins associated with a trithorax-related SET domain protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(23):12902–12907
- Minvielle-Sebastia L, Preker PJ, Keller W (1994) RNA14 and RNA15 proteins as components of a yeast pre-mRNA 3'-end processing factor. Science 266(5191):1702–1705
- Minvielle-Sebastia L, Preker PJ, Wiederkehr T, Strahm Y, Keller W (1997) The major yeast poly(A)-binding protein is associated with cleavage factor IA and functions in premessenger RNA 3'-end formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94(15):7897–7902
- Mizrahi N, Moore C (2000) Posttranslational phosphorylation and ubiquitination of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* poly(A) polymerase at the S/G2 Stage of the cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol 20(8):2794–2802
- Moqtaderi Z, Geisberg JV, Jin Y, Fan X, Struhl K (2013) Species-specific factors mediate extensive heterogeneity of mRNA 3' ends in yeasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(27): 11073–11078
- Munsterkotter M, Steinberg G (2007) The fungus Ustilago maydis and humans share diseaserelated proteins that are not found in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. BMC Genom 8:473
- Nedea E, He X, Kim M, Pootoolal J, Zhong G, Canadien V, Hughes T, Buratowski S, Moore CL, Greenblatt J (2003) Organization and function of APT, a subcomplex of the yeast cleavage and polyadenylation factor involved in the formation of mRNA and small nucleolar RNA 3'ends. J Biol Chem 278(35):33000–33010
- Nedea E, Nalbant D, Xia D, Theoharis NT, Suter B, Richardson CJ, Tatchell K, Kislinger T, Greenblatt JF, Nagy PL (2008) The Glc7 phosphatase subunit of the cleavage and polyadenylation factor is essential for transcription termination on snoRNA genes. Mol Cell 29(5):577–587
- Noble CG, Beuth B, Taylor IA (2007) Structure of a nucleotide-bound Clp1-Pcf11 polyadenylation factor. Nucleic Acids Res 35(1):87–99
- Noble CG, Walker PA, Calder LJ, Taylor IA (2004) Rna14–Rna15 assembly mediates the RNA-binding capability of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cleavage factor IA. Nucleic Acids Res 32(11):3364–3375
- Ohnacker M, Barabino SM, Preker PJ, Keller W (2000) The WD-repeat protein pfs2p bridges two essential factors within the yeast pre-mRNA 3'-end-processing complex. EMBO J 19(1):37–47
- Ohnacker M, Minvielle-Sebastia L, Keller W (1996) The *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* pla1 gene encodes a poly(A) polymerase and can functionally replace its *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* homologue. Nucleic Acids Res 24(13):2585–2591
- Ozsolak F, Kapranov P, Foissac S, Kim SW, Fishilevich E, Monaghan AP, John B, Milos PM (2010) Comprehensive polyadenylation site maps in yeast and human reveal pervasive alternative polyadenylation. Cell 143(6):1018–1029
- Perez-Canadillas JM (2006) Grabbing the message: structural basis of mRNA 3'UTR recognition by Hrp1. EMBO J 25(13):3167–3178
- Perreault A, Lemieux C, Bachand F (2007) Regulation of the nuclear poly(A)-binding protein by arginine methylation in fission yeast. J Biol Chem 282(10):7552–7562
- Potter K, Cremona N, Sunder S, Wise JA (2012) A dominant role for meiosis-specific 3' RNA processing in controlling expression of a fission yeast cyclin gene. RNA 18(7):1408–1420

- Preker PJ, Lingner J, Minvielle-Sebastia L, Keller W (1995) The FIP1 gene encodes a component of a yeast pre-mRNA polyadenylation factor that directly interacts with poly(A) polymerase. Cell 81(3):379–389
- Prescott EM, Proudfoot NJ (2002) Transcriptional collision between convergent genes in budding yeast. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99(13):8796–8801
- Proudfoot N (2004) New perspectives on connecting messenger RNA 3' end formation to transcription. Curr Opin Cell Biol 16(3):272–278
- Proudfoot NJ (2011) Ending the message: poly(A) signals then and now. Genes Dev 25(17):1770–1782
- Pugh DJ, Ab E, Faro A, Lutya PT, Hoffmann E, Rees DJ (2006) DWNN, a novel ubiquitin-like domain, implicates RBBP6 in mRNA processing and ubiquitin-like pathways. BMC Struct Biol 6:1
- Qu X, Lykke-Andersen S, Nasser T, Saguez C, Bertrand E, Jensen TH, Moore C (2009) Assembly of an export-competent mRNP is needed for efficient release of the 3'-end processing complex after polyadenylation. Mol Cell Biol 29(19):5327–5338
- Qu X, Perez-Canadillas JM, Agrawal S, De Baecke J, Cheng H, Varani G, Moore C (2007) The C-terminal domains of vertebrate CstF-64 and its yeast orthologue Rna15 form a new structure critical for mRNA 3'-end processing. J Biol Chem 282(3):2101–2115
- Ramirez A, Shuman S, Schwer B (2008) Human RNA 5'-kinase (hClp1) can function as a tRNA splicing enzyme in vivo. RNA 14(9):1737–1745
- Richter JD (1999) Cytoplasmic polyadenylation in development and beyond. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 63(2):446–456
- Rissland OS, Mikulasova A, Norbury CJ (2007) Efficient RNA polyuridylation by noncanonical poly(A) polymerases. Mol Cell Biol 27(10):3612–3624
- Rodriguez-Torres AM, Lamas-Maceiras M, Garcia-Diaz R, Freire-Picos MA (2013) Structurally conserved and functionally divergent yeast Ssu72 phosphatases. FEBS Lett 587(16): 2617–2622
- Roguev A, Schaft D, Shevchenko A, Pijnappel WW, Wilm M, Aasland R, Stewart AF (2001) The *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Set1 complex includes an Ash2 homologue and methylates histone 3 lysine 4. EMBO J 20(24):7137–7148
- Russnak R, Nehrke KW, Platt T (1995) REF2 encodes an RNA-binding protein directly involved in yeast mRNA 3'-end formation. Mol Cell Biol 15(3):1689–1697
- Ryan K, Calvo O, Manley JL (2004) Evidence that polyadenylation factor CPSF-73 is the mRNA 3' processing endonuclease. RNA 10(4):565–573
- Sachs AB, Davis RW (1989) The poly(A) binding protein is required for poly(A) shortening and 60S ribosomal subunit-dependent translation initiation. Cell 58(5):857–867
- Sakai Y, Saijo M, Coelho K, Kishino T, Niikawa N, Taya Y (1995) cDNA sequence and chromosomal localization of a novel human protein, RBQ-1 (RBBP6), that binds to the retinoblastoma gene product. Genomics 30(1):98–101
- Sandberg R, Neilson JR, Sarma A, Sharp PA, Burge CB (2008) Proliferating cells express mRNAs with shortened 3' untranslated regions and fewer microRNA target sites. Science 320(5883):1643–1647
- Schlackow M, Marguerat S, Proudfoot NJ, Bahler J, Erban R, Gullerova M (2013) Genome-wide analysis of poly(A) site selection in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. RNA 19(12):1617–1631
- Schmid M, Poulsen MB, Olszewski P, Pelechano V, Saguez C, Gupta I, Steinmetz LM, Moore C, Jensen TH (2012) Rrp6p controls mRNA poly(A) tail length and its decoration with poly(A) binding proteins. Mol Cell 47(2):267–280
- Scott DD, Norbury CJ (2013) RNA decay via 3' uridylation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1829(6–7): 654–665
- Seoane S, Guiard B, Rodriguez-Torres AM, Freire-Picos MA (2005) Effects of splitting alternative KICYC1 3'-UTR regions on processing: metabolic consequences and biotechnological applications. J Biotechnol 118(2):149–156

- Seoane S, Lamas-Maceiras M, Rodriguez-Torres AM, Freire-Picos MA (2009) Involvement of Pta1, Pcf11 and a KICYC1 AU-rich element in alternative RNA 3'-end processing selection in yeast. FEBS Lett 583(17):2843–2848
- Shearwin KE, Callen BP, Egan JB (2005) Transcriptional interference-a crash course. Trends Genet 21(6):339-345
- Shepard PJ, Choi E, Lu J, Flanagan LA, Hertel KJ, Shi Y (2011) Complex and dynamic landscape of RNA polyadenylation revealed by PAS-Seq. RNA 17(4):761–772
- Shi Y (2012) Alternative polyadenylation: new insights from global analyses. RNA 18(12):2105–2117
- Shi Y, Di Giammartino DC, Taylor D, Sarkeshik A, Rice WJ, Yates JR 3rd, Frank J, Manley JL (2009) Molecular architecture of the human pre-mRNA 3' processing complex. Mol Cell 33(3):365–376
- Shobuike T, Tatebayashi K, Tani T, Sugano S, Ikeda H (2001) The dhp1(+) gene, encoding a putative nuclear 5' \rightarrow 3' exoribonuclease, is required for proper chromosome segregation in fission yeast. Nucleic Acids Res 29(6):1326–1333
- Skolnik-David H, Moore CL, Sharp PA (1987) Electrophoretic separation of polyadenylationspecific complexes. Genes Dev 1(7):672–682
- Soucek S, Corbett AH, Fasken MB (2012) The long and the short of it: the role of the zinc finger polyadenosine RNA binding protein, Nab2, in control of poly(A) tail length. Biochim Biophys Acta 1819(6):546–554
- Sparks KA, Dieckmann CL (1998) Regulation of poly(A) site choice of several yeast mRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 26(20):4676–4687
- St-Andre O, Lemieux C, Perreault A, Lackner DH, Bahler J, Bachand F (2010) Negative regulation of meiotic gene expression by the nuclear poly(a)-binding protein in fission yeast. J Biol Chem 285(36):27859–27868
- Stumpf G, Domdey H (1996) Dependence of yeast pre-mRNA 3'-end processing on CFT1: a sequence homolog of the mammalian AAUAAA binding factor. Science 274(5292): 1517–1520
- Sugano S, Shobuike T, Takeda T, Sugino A, Ikeda H (1994) Molecular analysis of the dhp1+ gene of Schizosaccharomyces pombe: an essential gene that has homology to the DST2 and RAT1 genes of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Gen Genet 243(1):1–8
- Sugiyama T, Sugioka-Sugiyama R (2011) Red1 promotes the elimination of meiosis-specific mRNAs in vegetatively growing fission yeast. EMBO J 30(6):1027–1039
- Tacahashi Y, Helmling S, Moore CL (2003) Functional dissection of the zinc finger and flanking domains of the Yth1 cleavage/polyadenylation factor. Nucleic Acids Res 31(6):1744–1752
- Takagaki Y, Manley JL (1997) RNA recognition by the human polyadenylation factor CstF. Mol Cell Biol 17(7):3907–3914
- Takagaki Y, Manley JL (2000) Complex protein interactions within the human polyadenylation machinery identify a novel component. Mol Cell Biol 20(5):1515–1525
- Thakurta AG, Ho Yoon J, Dhar R (2002) Schizosaccharomyces pombe spPABP, a homologue of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pab1p, is a non-essential, shuttling protein that facilitates mRNA export. Yeast 19(9):803–810
- Tian B, Manley JL (2013) Alternative cleavage and polyadenylation: the long and short of it. Trends Biochem Sci 38(6):312–320
- Vo LT, Minet M, Schmitter JM, Lacroute F, Wyers F (2001) Mpe1, a zinc knuckle protein, is an essential component of yeast cleavage and polyadenylation factor required for the cleavage and polyadenylation of mRNA. Mol Cell Biol 21(24):8346–8356
- Wang SW, Asakawa K, Win TZ, Toda T, Norbury CJ (2005) Inactivation of the pre-mRNA cleavage and polyadenylation factor Pfs2 in fission yeast causes lethal cell cycle defects. Mol Cell Biol 25(6):2288–2296
- Weitzer S, Martinez J (2007) The human RNA kinase hClp1 is active on 3' transfer RNA exons and short interfering RNAs. Nature 447(7141):222–226
- West S, Gromak N, Proudfoot NJ (2004) Human 5' \rightarrow 3' exonuclease Xrn2 promotes transcription termination at co-transcriptional cleavage sites. Nature 432(7016):522–525

- Yamanaka S, Yamashita A, Harigaya Y, Iwata R, Yamamoto M (2010) Importance of polyadenylation in the selective elimination of meiotic mRNAs in growing S. pombe cells. EMBO J 29(13):2173–2181
- Yamashita A, Shichino Y, Tanaka H, Hiriart E, Touat-Todeschini L, Vavasseur A, Ding DQ, Hiraoka Y, Verdel A, Yamamoto M (2012) Hexanucleotide motifs mediate recruitment of the RNA elimination machinery to silent meiotic genes. Open Biol 2(3):120014
- Yang Q, Coseno M, Gilmartin GM, Doublie S (2010) Crystal structure of a human cleavage factor CFI(m)25/CFI(m)68/RNA complex provides an insight into poly(A) site recognition and RNA looping. Structure 19(3):368–377
- Yao C, Biesinger J, Wan J, Weng L, Xing Y, Xie X, Shi Y (2012) Transcriptome-wide analyses of CstF64-RNA interactions in global regulation of mRNA alternative polyadenylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109(46):18773–18778
- Yoon OK, Brem RB (2010) Noncanonical transcript forms in yeast and their regulation during environmental stress. RNA 16(6):1256–1267
- Yu H, Braun P, Yildirim MA, Lemmens I, Venkatesan K, Sahalie J, Hirozane-Kishikawa T, Gebreab F, Li N, Simonis N, Hao T, Rual JF, Dricot A, Vazquez A, Murray RR, Simon C, Tardivo L, Tam S, Svrzikapa N, Fan C, de Smet AS, Motyl A, Hudson ME, Park J, Xin X, Cusick ME, Moore T, Boone C, Snyder M, Roth FP, Barabasi AL, Tavernier J, Hill DE, Vidal M (2008) High-quality binary protein interaction map of the yeast interactome network. Science 322(5898):104–110
- Yu L, Volkert MR (2013) UV damage regulates alternative polyadenylation of the RPB2 gene in yeast. Nucleic Acids Res 41(5):3104–3114
- Zhang Z, Gilmour DS (2006) Pcf11 is a termination factor in Drosophila that dismantles the elongation complex by bridging the CTD of RNA polymerase II to the nascent transcript. Mol Cell 21(1):65–74
- Zhang Z, Klatt A, Henderson AJ, Gilmour DS (2007) Transcription termination factor Pcf11 limits the processivity of Pol II on an HIV provirus to repress gene expression. Genes Dev 21(13):1609–1614
- Zhang Z, Theler D, Kaminska KH, Hiller M, de la Grange P, Pudimat R, Rafalska I, Heinrich B, Bujnicki JM, Allain FH, Stamm S (2010) The YTH domain is a novel RNA binding domain. J Biol Chem 285(19):14701–14710
- Zhao J, Hyman L, Moore C (1999) Formation of mRNA 3' ends in eukaryotes: mechanism, regulation, and interrelationships with other steps in mRNA synthesis. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 63(2):405–445
- Zhao J, Kessler MM, Moore CL (1997) Cleavage factor II of Saccharomyces cerevisiae contains homologues to subunits of the mammalian Cleavage/ polyadenylation specificity factor and exhibits sequence-specific, ATP-dependent interaction with precursor RNA. J Biol Chem 272(16):10831–10838
- Zhelkovsky A, Tacahashi Y, Nasser T, He X, Sterzer U, Jensen TH, Domdey H, Moore C (2006) The role of the Brr5/Ysh1 C-terminal domain and its homolog Syc1 in mRNA 3'-end processing in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. RNA 12(3):435–445
- Zofall M, Yamanaka S, Reyes-Turcu FE, Zhang K, Rubin C, Grewal SI (2012) RNA elimination machinery targeting meiotic mRNAs promotes facultative heterochromatin formation. Science 335(6064):96–100